## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# JUAN PANTOJA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. **SC08-1879** 

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

# KATHLEEN STOVER

Fla. Bar No. 0513253
Assistant Public Defender
Leon County Courthouse
301 South Monroe, Suite 401
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
(850) 606-1000
Kathys@leoncountyfl.gov
ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

#

Ney, Tara Ph.D., editor  True and False Allegations of Child Sexual Abuse: Assessment and Case Management (1995), reviewed in J. Amer. Academy of Child & Adolesce Psychiatry, V. 35, Iss. 11, 1564 (Nov. 1996)	22 ent

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUAN PANTOJA, :

Petitioner, :

VS. : CASE NO. SC08-1879

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_:

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

## I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from conviction at jury trial of sexual battery on a child and lewd molestation. The First District Court affirmed on appeal. <a href="Pantoja v. State">Pantoja v. State</a>, 990 So.2d 626 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008). All proceedings were held in Gadsden County before Circuit Judge P. Kevin Davey.

The two-volume record on appeal will be referred to as "R1" and "R2," the four-volume trial transcript as "T1" to "T4," sentencing transcript as "Sent," and supplemental record (hearing held March 23, 2006) as "Supp." The record also contains jury selection.

#### II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, Juan Pantoja, was charged in Gadsden County by information filed July 18, 2003, with capital sexual battery on a child under 12 by a person over the age of 18, and lewd and lascivious molestation by a person over the age of 18, the date alleged said "on various occasions" between June 16, 2002 and June 9, 2003 (R1 12).

The state filed a motion in limine to exclude evidence of a prior accusation by the child, V.R. against uncle; the motion was granted (Supp ).

At trial March 28-29, 2006, before Judge Davey, Pantoja's motions for judgment of acquittal were denied (T3 300, T4 421). During deliberations, the jury asked for a TV set to play the videotape; the request was granted (T4 505). After a recess, the jury asked: 1) Does [the child] speak or understand Spanish?

2) Does Juan speak any English (even broken)? (T4 505). After consultation, the judge told the jury there was no evidence, so they could not be answered (T4 507). The jury asked to see a copy of the jury instructions (T4 508). After inquiry, the court reread the instructions on Count 2 (T4 509-13).

The jury found Pantoja guilty in Count 1 of the lesser-included offense of sexual battery on a child under age 12 by a defendant less than 18 years of age, and as charged of Count 2 (R2 110-11).

April 7, Pantoja filed motions for new trial and to vacate

the sexual battery conviction (R2 160-67), which were denied (Sent 6-10, 10-16).

April 20, Pantoja was sentenced to life in prison on Count 1 (30 years prison concurrent on Count 2), with credit for time served of 1003 days (R2 169-76). The record does not contain a Criminal Punishment Code scoresheet, but defense counsel said the range was 14 to 19 years (Sent 18).

Notice of appeal was timely filed April 25, 2006 (R2 177).

The convictions were affirmed on appeal; the district court certified conflict with <u>Jaggers</u>, <u>infra</u>. <u>Pantoja</u>, <u>supra</u>.

#### III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

**Pretrial hearing**. Facts pertaining to the state's pretrial motion to exclude evidence about the child's previous accusation of sexual abuse against her uncle are included in the argument as needed and not summarized here.

Trial. The alleged victim will be referred to by her initials, "V.R." At the time of trial, she was 11 years old and in sixth grade and lives with her mother and siblings (T2 125). Petitioner, Juan Pantoja, was her mother's boyfriend and the father of her now 3-year-old brother, C. (T2 126-28). Pantoja sometimes stayed with them at the apartment (T2 126). Pantoja worked in construction. Her mother stopped working while she was pregnant with C. (T2 128). When V.R. was 8 years old, Pantoja touched her with his hand on her private part both over and under her clothing (T2 129-30). She did not tell her mother at the time because she was afraid of him. He said he would take her out to the forest and hurt her real bad (T2 131). His private part touched hers; he would lick her (T2 132). This happened at home (T2 132).

Once, on the side of Wal-Mart, inside the car, he got her to suck his private part (T2 133). Things happened at home.

Sometimes her mother was at work; sometimes she was downstairs and V.R. was upstairs (T2 134). Her clothes were off; he told her to take them off (T2 134). He got on top of her on her mother's bed. Did that happen one time or more than one time?

A: I can't remember that good (T2 135). She went with him to the Wal-Mart that day because he said he had to get some washing powder. Her mother was at the laundromat (T2 136). Instead of getting out of the car, he told her to do that (T2 137). He got her a doll at the Wal-Mart (T2 137). Does she know what date it was? A: No (T2 137).

Q: A week or so before her birthday in June, 2003, did
Pantoja leave home and not come back? A: Yes. After he moved
out, she told her Aunt Michelle¹ (T2 138). Michelle told her
grandmother, and her grandmother called these people. Q: Melia
Flores [DCF] came to see her on her birthday? A: Yes. Q: She
was later interviewed by Kim Ellis [CPT]? A: Yes (T2 139). Q:
Did V.R. use anatomical drawings with Ms. Ellis? A: Yes (T2
140). Q: Do you know if his private got inside yours or did it
make contact with yours? A: Contact. Q: You don't know if it
got inside or not? A: (Shaking head negatively) (T2 141). Q: He
told her not to tell; does that happen one time or more than one
time? A: I can't remember how many times (T2 141). When V.R.
talked to Ellis, she felt embarrassed (T2 142).

On cross, counsel asked if V.R. told about the touching after she found out that Pantoja had gotten out of jail. A: I don't remember. Q: But you did know he had gotten out of jail?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Undersigned counsel refers to the child and her uncle by their initials; should this court mention other relatives in an opinion, it may wish to use initials or pseudonyms, but the use of numerous sets of initials became unwieldy, and counsel refers to other relatives by their actual first names.

A: No. She heard that he did, but she wasn't for sure. Q: After she heard that, she told her aunt? A: Yes (T2 145). Q: Did
Pantoja take her to Wal-Mart to buy a doll because she was making good grades? A: No; she wasn't making good grades at the time.
Q: When they went to Wal-Mart, did her sister, A., go too? A: No (T2 148). Q: At the Wal-Mart, didn't she say she saw a yucky fluid coming from his private part? A: Yes (T2 149). When her mother worked, her grandmother babysat her and the other children (T2 151). Q: You told Mary Van Tassel that Juan had not molested you, right? A: No (T2 152).

The defense proffered cross-examination. Q: Did she accuse her Uncle T.D. of sexually touching her? A: Yes. Q: That was before Pantoja was her mother's boyfriend? A: Yes. Q: Isn't it true that you later told your grandmother that you had lied on Uncle T.D.? A: No (T2 153). Q: Did you have a conversation with your grandmother, Jeanette, about Uncle T.D.? A: No. Q: You never told your grandmother that Uncle T.D. had sexually molested you? A: Yes (T2 154). Q: Did you tell your grandmother that you had lied on Uncle T.D.? A: No. Q: Did you tell your Aunt Michelle that Uncle T.D. sexually molested you? A: "Not if I remember." Q: Did you tell Aunt Michelle that you had lied about your Uncle T.D.? A: No. Q: Did you tell your mother, Wendy, that you had lied about Uncle T.D.? A: No (T2 155). At deposition, V.R. had said she told Aunt Michelle once about Juan

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ See n.1.

touching her, but she guessed that Michelle got mad at her uncle and said that he did it to Nana because her nana would believe anything. V.R. did not remember saying that (T2 157).

The court said there was an allegation that the state had improperly coached the witness; the court did not find any evidence of that (T2 170). The court said it had already ruled to exclude evidence about the accusation against T.D. and, over objection, again excluded the evidence (T2 170-71).

Jeanette, V.R.'s grandmother, called the child abuse hotline. Melia Flores, a child protection investigator for the
Department of Children and Families (DCF), was the first responder (T2 176-77). Flores testified she went to the home on June
16, 2003, and talked to V.R. (T2 177). Flores had opened a
report on June 9 [on a different matter], and the family was
familiar with her. Q: The events of June 9 were not relevant to
this case about ... what we - you found out on June 16? A: Yes
(T2 178). V.R. said Pantoja had touched her privates (T2 187).
Flores did not interview V.R. Their protocol is to contact the
Child Protection Team (CPT) who will conduct a formal interview;
Flores also contacted law enforcement. She told the family not
to talk with V.R. (T2 188). Later, Flores took V.R. to the
interview and watched it from an observation room (T2 190).

On cross, counsel asked if, from the day she opened the report [June 9] until June 16, was there any report that V.R. had been sexually molested? A: No. The phone call was on June 14

(T2 192).

Kimberly Ellis is a forensic interviewer with the CPT (T2 195). Her interview with V.R. on June 25, 2003 was videotaped (T2 197-98). Ellis had previously spoken with V.R. on June 11 on a totally different subject (T2 199). Q: Was V.R. somewhat hesitant to talk about it? A: Yes (T2 200). Ellis used other techniques. She had V.R. write it down. V.R. said it would be easier to write it than to talk about it. Ellis used anatomical drawings (T2 201). Parts of the videotape are difficult to hear because V.R.'s voice gets low at times (T2 202). The videotape is 50 minutes long (T4 441). It was played for the jury, but not transcribed (T2 212). (At the pretrial hearing, the state asked defense counsel for a transcript of the tape; counsel said it was impossible to transcribe (Supp 20-21).) The court overruled an objection to authenticity (T2 214-15).

The state argued that, if there is appellate review about the ruling involving T.D., it wanted to proffer the CPT report of the interview of V.R. where she was asked about the allegations about T.D. and did not recant, but said her grandmother did not believe her. The defense objected (T2 215-17). The court said this was on the issue of the state's motion to exclude questions to V.R. about T.D. Defense counsel asked if the state had copies of the arrest of T.D. "for this stuff here" on October 24, 2003. Defense counsel asked that the record reflect that T.D. had not been arrested on V.R.'s allegation (T2 216). The state agreed he

had not been arrested (T2 217). The court accepted the proffered report (T2 217).

Defense counsel said it intended to proffer the testimony of Jeanette that V.R. did accuse her uncle, T.D., then later said she had lied about it, and her grandmother did not believe her and did not report it. It goes to the credibility of the child (T2 217). The court said, "I think it goes to the credibility of the grandma, with all due respect." Defense counsel said that was for the jury to decide. The judge said it does not go to the jury because of 90.610 (T2 218). The judge said he did not want to rehash it again, and "you all have preserved this to the nth degree for the record" (T2 218). On continued cross, Kimberly Ellis said V.R. said during the interview that he "put his private in her private" (T2 221). Towards the end, V.R. said "he keeps trying to put it in her, and she keeps scooting back" (T2 222).

Michael Devaney, a Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) agent, located the motor vehicle in which a sex act was alleged to have occurred; it was at a trailer park where Pantoja and another man lived (T2 225-26). Devaney also located two Barbie-type dolls in V.R.'s apartment (T2 228). The court sustained an objection because the state failed to lay an adequate foundation that the doll was the same one Pantoja bought for V.R. (T2 228-31). Devaney viewed a videotape of the Wal-Mart parking lot, but it revealed nothing (T2 232-33).

On cross, Devaney said the car was still registered to

Pantoja, but apparently he had sold it to his housemate (T2 234-36).

FDLE Crime Lab Analyst Shawn Yao processed the car for seminal fluid or semen residue (T2 244). He found 22 stains which fluoresced, but all tests were negative (T2 246-47).

Samuel Moorer, a pediatrician with the CPT, did a physical exam of V.R. on July 1, 2003 (T3 286). She had a normal exam with the hymen still intact (T3 288). There were no injuries, bleeding, tears, redness, discharge or sign of infection, and no old scars or injuries. Q: Does that rule out any allegation of sexual molestation? A: No. That's a common misperception. A defense objection was overruled (T3 289). Dr. Moorer said the general consensus is that you don't expect to find physical traces in a large number, even a majority, of children who have been sexually molested (T3 291). Injuries in this area heal very rapidly, within a couple of days. They very often heal without scars (T3 294,296).

On cross, Dr. Moorer said he was biased towards children (T3 296). A normal exam neither proves nor disproves whether sexual abuse occurred (T3 297-98).

After the state rested (T3 298), the court asked Pantoja about not testifying (T3 303-04). The defense again asked to introduce evidence about the allegations against T.D.; the request was denied (T3 305-313). The defense asked to proffer testimony of Mary Van Tassel that the child recanted, which is

recantation to a nonfamily member. The court said it doesn't change the ruling (T3 313-14). The court accepted Van Tassel's deposition as the proffer (T3 314).

The defense case began with a stipulation that Pantoja was arrested on June 10, 2003, for a battery against Wendy that occurred on June 9. On the same day, he was also arrested on an old warrant for domestic battery against Wendy from September, 2002 and an old charge from June, 2002 against Jeanette. Bond was set at \$21,000; he bonded out on June 14 (T3 315).

Jeanette is V.R.'s grandmother and Wendy's mother. Jeanette testified she called Melia Flores on June 14, about Pantoja messing with V.R. (T3 317-18). Did she talk to Flores on the phone about Pantoja bonding out of jail? A: No (T3 318). Q: Did you have a conversation with Flores that Wendy was so upset that she had gone to get an injunction against Crystal Pantoja because Crystal helped Juan bond out of jail? A: I don't remember that (T3 319).

On cross, Jeanette was asked, after she made a complaint against Pantoja in June 2002 for battery, did the association between Pantoja and her daughter continue? A: Yes, but I moved out of the house with them (T3 320).

Melia Flores was recalled. On June 14, Jeanette told her Pantoja had been released from jail on bond, and the mom, Wendy, was upset (T3 323,328). Wendy believed Pantoja's wife, Crystal, had bonded him out. Did the grandmother say Wendy was upset and

was going to get an injunction against Crystal? A: "Yes. I do know that the mom did want to get an injunction against Crystal Pantoja" (T3 324). On June 16, the grandmother told her the mother had gone to court to try to file an injunction against Crystal (T3 328).

The defense proffered the testimony of Mary Jane Van Tassel that she asked V.R. whether Pantoja had touched her. At first, V.R. just looked at her and dropped her head. V.R. asked to talk to her but would not look her in the eye. When she asked if Pantoja had touched her, V.R. dropped her head and looked away and whispered "no" (T3 332). Van Tassel asked if T.D. had touched her and got the same answer, a whispered "no." V.R. had tears in her eyes and stopped talking (T3 332-33). Van Tassel said that all of the children's, but especially V.R.'s, attitude and whole demeanor changed since Pantoja came into the home. V.R. used to be outgoing and happy, and then she withdrew and wouldn't play with Van Tassel (T3 336).

Defense counsel argued that Van Tassel should not be allowed to testify about the change in demeanor because that was due to the fact that, when Wendy had a doctor's appointment about the baby [pregnancy], Pantoja wanted to take her to the doctor; Van Tassel also wanted to take Wendy to the doctor, and this caused conflict in the family (T3 340). The court asked why it was not admissible. Defense counsel said the state was going to argue the behavior was consistent with a child who is molested, but

such evidence is prohibited under the caselaw. However, the admission that Pantoja did not touch her is crucial to his defense (T3 341-42).

The state argued that, if the defense wanted to admit evidence that V.R. denied that Pantoja touched her, the state gets to ask why Van Tassel asked the question. "The defense is trying to pick and choose little phrases" (T3 342). The judge said he would not let the witness say V.R.'s behavior was consistent (T3 343). Defense counsel said Van Tassel could testify to the child's demeanor on the day of the statement, but not previously. Defense counsel again argued that Pantoja should be allowed to introduce evidence of V.R.'s recantation to a nonfamily member, who has no motive to protect T.D. (T3 344).

The judge said V.R. was asked did T.D. and Pantoja touch her, and says no, and this is hugely different than if she was asked about Pantoja only (T3 344-45). The court would not allow the matter about T.D. to be asked. The question will be just limited to Pantoja (T3 345). The state can ask about why she asked the question and about the child's demeanor (T3 345).

Wendy is V.R.'s mother. She was 14 when she had V.R. She has five children, one by Pantoja, C., who was born March 21, 2003 [which means the date of the alleged crimes was from before his birth through early infancy]. When she started dating Pantoja, Wendy and the children were living with her mother (T3 348-49). He would stay overnight once in a while. Around June,

2002, she, Juan and the children moved in together in a trailer park (T3 350-51). She thinks they stayed about two months (T3 352). She was working at Winn-Dixie (T3 352). Pantoja worked every day, but she does not recall where (T3 354). Did an investigator with the state attorney tell her to answer "I don't remember"? A: Yeah, I do remember that he did tell me that, yes (T3 353-54).

At some point Wendy moved to an apartment. Wendy stopped working in October because she was pregnant. She started working again in May. From May 29 to June 9 [i.e., 10 days], she was working at a tomato packing house (T3 354-55). Her mother babysat the children (T3 355). Pantoja sold his car to his brother-in-law in February (T3 356). Q: Did she recall Pantoja taking V.R. and [one of her sisters] to Wal-Mart twice? A: Yes. Q: Was one time to buy a doll to reward V.R. for her good grades? A: Yes (T3 357-358). From 2002 to June 9, 2003, did V.R. report sexual molestation by Pantoja? A: No. Q: Did Wendy notice any change in her behavior? A: No (T3 360).

On cross, Wendy said the dates are in a little book the state gave her (T3 363). Wendy testified that Pantoja and V.R. were seldom alone together (T3 370). When Wendy was cooking, V.R. would be upstairs; Juan would be downstairs (T3 370). Were there times sexual abuse could have occurred outside her presence? Over objection, Wendy said yes (T3 371). Did V.R. say anything about sexual abuse while Pantoja was living with them?

A: No (T3 372). The information came out after he left and was arrested? A: Yes (T3 373). On redirect, was Wendy mad when Pantoja bonded out of jail on June 14? A: Yes (T3 373).

Mary Jane Van Tassel works in the Early Head Start Program at Florida State. She goes into the homes of low income families and teaches prenatal and infant/child development up to the age of three. She had worked with Wendy's family for 5 years (T4 394). When she asked V.R. if Pantoja touched her, V.R. said no, ma'am, and dropped her head and looked away (T4 394-95).

On cross, the prosecutor said her answer was a little cut off by counsel. Van Tassel said V.R. dropped her head and looked away, and she had some tears in her eyes. Prior to that, V.R. had asked to speak to Van Tassel in private. She was trying to tell me something; she was very upset, very withdrawn. (T4 395). This was three months prior to June 9, 2003. Pantoja was in and out of the household, not permanently in the house. Van Tassel never did a visit when he was there. Wendy always cancelled the visits when he was home. On occasion, Van Tassel had been on the phone with Wendy and heard Pantoja yelling at the children to sit down and be quiet (T4 397).

On this day, V.R. was very agitated. Before that, she had been playful. She was upset and did not have her usual reaction to Van Tassel coming to visit (T4 398). She had changed since Juan had been in the household. All the girls had changed. The defense objection was sustained (T4 399). V.R. had become

withdrawn; V.R. told her she was afraid. A hearsay objection was sustained (T4 404). She wasn't as happy and outgoing as she used to be (T4 404).

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