IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUAN PANTOJA,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. SC08-1879

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BILL MCCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA MEGGS PATE TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 0045489

GISELLE DENISE LYLEN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0508012

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

(footnote omitted) (emphasis added).

In <u>Delaware v. Fensterer</u>, 474 U.S. 15, 16, 106 S. Ct. 292, 292, 88 L. Ed. 2d 15, 17 (1985), the Court reviewed a case in which the Delaware Supreme Court reversed the conviction of a defendant on the basis that the trial court had admitted a prosecution expert's testimony when the expert could not recall the basis of his opinion in violation of the Sixth Amendment's confrontation clause. The Court determined that the Delaware court had misconstrued the confrontation clause. <u>See id.</u> The Court noted that there are two types of confrontation clause cases: "cases involving the admission of out-of-court statements and cases involving restrictions imposed by law or by the trial court on the scope of cross-examination." <u>Fensterer</u>, 474 U.S. at 18, 106 S. Ct. at 294, 88 L. Ed.2d at 18.

The Court noted that the second type of cases is exemplified by its decision in <u>Davis v. Alaska</u>, 415 U.S. 308, 318, 94 S. Ct. 1105, 1111, 39 L. Ed. 2d 347, 354-55 (1974). In <u>Davis</u>, the Court stated:

although some cross-examination of a prosecution witness was allowed, the trial court did not permit

defense counsel to "expose to the jury the facts from which jurors, as the sole triers of fact and credibility, could appropriately draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness."

<u>Fensterer</u>, 474 U.S. at 19, 106 S. Ct. at 294, 88 L. Ed. 2d at 19 (quoting <u>Davis</u>, 415 U.S. at 318, 94 S. Ct. at 1111, 39 L. Ed. 2d at 355). The <u>Fensterer</u> Court continued that it "has recognized that Confrontation Clause questions will arise because such restrictions may 'effectively... emasculate the right of crossexamination itself.'" <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>Smith v. Illinois</u>, 390 U.S. 129, 131, 88 S. Ct. 748, 750, 19 L. Ed. 2d 956, 959 (1968)). The

Court continued:

'The main and essential purpose of confrontation is to secure for the opponent the opportunity of crossexamination.'" Id., at 315-316 (quoting 5 J. Wigmore, Evidence § 1395, p. 123 (3d ed. 1940) (emphasis in original)). Generally speaking, the Confrontation Clause guarantees an opportunity for effective crossexamination, not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish.

Fensterer, 474 U.S. at 19-20, 106 S. Ct. at 294, 88 L. Ed. 2d at

19 (emphasis added). The Court further stated The Confrontation Clause includes no guarantee that every witness called by the prosecution will refrain from giving testimony that is marred by forgetfulness, confusion, or evasion. To the contrary, the Confrontation Clause is generally satisfied when the defense is given a full and fair opportunity to probe and expose these infirmities through cross-examination, thereby calling to the attention of the factfinder the reasons for giving scant weight to the witness' testimony.

Fensterer, 474 U.S. at 21, 106 S. Ct. at 295, 88 L. Ed. 2d at

21.

In Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 674, 106 S. Ct. 1431, 1432, 89 L. Ed. 2d 674, 680 (1986), the Court reviewed a case in which the Delaware Supreme Court reversed the defendant's conviction "on the ground that the trial court, by improperly restricting defense counsel's cross-examination designed to show bias on the part of a prosecution witness" had violated the defendant's confrontation rights. The Court concluded that the Delaware Supreme Court correctly determined that the trial court erred, the Delaware court "was wrong when it declined to consider whether that ruling was harmless in the context of the trial as a whole." Id. In that case, the trial court barred defense counsel from impeaching a witness by questioning the witness regarding the dismissal of a criminal charge against him after he agreed to talk to prosecutors regarding the crime committed in the case. See Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 676, 106 S. Ct. at 1433-34, 89 L. Ed. 2d at 681.

The Court concluded:

Of particular relevance here, "[we] have recognized the exposure of a witness' motivation that in testifying is a proper and important function of the constitutionally protected right of cross-examination." Davis, supra, at 316-317 (citing Greene v. McElroy, 360 U.S. 474, 496 (1959)). It does not follow, of course, that the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment prevents a trial judge from imposing any limits on defense counsel's inquiry into the potential bias of a prosecution witness. On the contrary, trial judges retain wide latitude insofar as the Confrontation Clause is concerned to impose reasonable limits on such cross-examination based on concerns about, among other things, harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues, the witness' safety, or interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant. And as we observed earlier this Term, "the Confrontation Clause an opportunity for effective crossquarantees

examination, not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish." <u>Delaware v. Fensterer</u>, 474 U.S. 15, 20 (1985) (per curiam) (emphasis in original).

Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 678-79, 106 S. Ct. at 1435, 89 L. Ed. 2d

at 683 (bold emphasis added).

The Court further explained:

As we have stressed on more than one occasion, the Constitution entitles a criminal defendant to a fair trial, not a perfect one. E.g., United States v. Hasting, 461 U.S. 499, 508-509 (1983); Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 135 (1968). In Chapman[v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967)], this Court rejected the argument that all federal constitutional errors, regardless of their nature or the circumstances of the case, require reversal of a judgment of conviction. The Court reasoned that in the context of a particular case, certain constitutional errors, no less than other errors, may have been "harmless" in terms of their effect on the factfinding process at trial. Since Chapman, we have repeatedly reaffirmed the principle that an otherwise valid conviction should not be set aside if the reviewing court may confidently say, on the whole record, that the constitutional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. E.g., United States v. Hasting, supra (improper comment on defendant's silence at trial); Moore v. Illinois, 434 U.S. 220, 232 (admission of identification obtained (1977) in violation of right to counsel); Harrington v. California, [395 U.S. 250 (1969),] supra (admission of nontestifying codefendant's statement). The harmlesserror doctrine recognizes the principle that the central purpose of a criminal trial is to decide the factual question of the defendant's guilt or innocence, United States v. Nobles, 422 U.S. 225, 230 (1975), and promotes public respect for the criminal process by focusing on the underlying fairness of the trial rather than on the virtually inevitable presence of immaterial error. Cf. R. Traynor, The Riddle of Harmless Error 50 (1970) ("Reversal for error, regardless of its effect on the judgment, encourages litigants to abuse the judicial process and bestirs the public to ridicule it").

<u>Van Arsdall</u>, 475 U.S. at 681, 106 S. Ct. 1436, 89 L. Ed. 2d at 684-85. The Court held that "constitutionally improper denial of

a defendant's opportunity to impeach a witness for bias, like other Confrontation Clause errors, is subject to <u>Chapman</u> harmless-error analysis." 475 U.S. at 684, 106 S. Ct. at 1438, 89 L. Ed. 2d at 686; <u>see also Fry v. Pliler</u>, 551 U.S. 112, 127 S. Ct. 2321, 2328, 168 L. Ed. 2d 16, 17 (2007) (holding that in § 2254 proceedings a court must assess the prejudicial impact of constitutional error in a state-court criminal trial under the "substantial and injurious effect" standard set forth in <u>Brecht</u> <u>v. Abrahamson</u>, 507 U.S., 113 S. Ct., 123 L. Ed. 2d (1993), whether or not the state appellate court recognized the error and reviewed it for harmlessness under the "harmless beyond a reasonable doubt" standard set forth in <u>Chapman v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967)).

In the case at bar, Petitioner has failed to show that the limitation imposed on cross-examination was arbitrary or capricious. In fact, the United States Supreme Court has repeatedly acknowledged in cases such as <u>Chambers</u> and <u>Scheffer</u> the ability of the states and courts to impose reasonable restrictions on the presentation of relevant evidence. The limitations simply cannot be arbitrary or disproportionate. <u>See Scheffer</u>, <u>supra</u>. Given the marginal relevance of the evidence in this case, the district court properly concluded that no constitutional violation had occurred.

The limitations placed upon Petitioner under the Florida Rules of Evidence are not similar to the limitations faced by the defendants in <u>Chambers</u> and <u>Olden</u>. In <u>Chambers v. Mississippi</u>, 410

- 40 -

U.S. 284, 294, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 1045, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297, 308 (1973), the court, through application of Mississippi's evidentiary rules, prevented the defendant from cross-examining an adverse witness and presenting witnesses who would have discredited the repudiation of adverse witness' confession and demonstrated the witness' complicity in the crime. As a result, the Court concluded that Chambers had been denied due process. <u>See Chambers</u>, 410 U.S. at 302-03, 93 S. Ct. at 1049, 35 L. Ed. 2d at 313.

In Olden v. Kentucky, 488 U.S. 227, 228, 109 S. Ct. 480, 481, 102 L. Ed. 2d 513, 517 (1988), the defendant had been indicted for rape, kidnapping and forcible sodomy. The jury convicted the defendant, a black man, of forcible sodomy. See Olden, 488 U.S. at 230, 109 S. Ct. at 482, 102 L. Ed. 2d at 519. The victim in the case, a white woman, gave inconsistent statements regarding the crime. See Olden, 488 U.S. at 229-30, 109 S. Ct. at 481-82, 102 L. Ed. 2d at 517-19. The defendant sought to impeach the victim theorizing that she had a motive to lie because her paramour, a black man, with whom she was living saw her leave with one of the co-defendants. See Olden, 488 U.S. at 230, 109 S. Ct. at 482, 102 L. Ed. 2d at 518. The trial court precluded the admission of the impeachment evidence involving the cohabitation because the evidence may have created prejudice against the victim. See Olden, 488 U.S. at 231, 109 S. Ct. at 482, 102 L. Ed. 2d at 519. The Court found that the evidence in the case was not overwhelming, as a result, the Court could not

- 41 -

conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the inability of the defendant to confront the witness regarding his theory was harmless. <u>See Olden</u>, 488 U.S. at 232, 109 S. Ct. at 483, 102 L. Ed. 2d at 520-21.

In this case, the record below simply fails to support Petitioner's claim that the victim was biased against him and motivated to lie. As the lower court properly concluded, Even assuming Appellant could show that the victim's prior allegation against her uncle was false, this showing would not tend to prove that she had a motive to make an accusation against Appellant. Even though the evidence would relate to the victim's propensity to lie about sexual molestation specifically, it is still general propensity evidence under Davis, as it does not relate to this defendant in particular or the facts of this case in particular.

Pantoja v. State, 990 So. 2d at 632.

Furthermore, appellant had ample opportunity at trial to both engage in meaningful cross-examination of the victim and to establish any alleged motive to lie both through her testimony and that of other witnesses. There is no similarity between the limitations faced by Petitioner and the defendants in cases such as <u>Chambers</u> and <u>Olden</u>. Throughout the trial, Petitioner sought to prove the child was not only not a credible witness but a liar who fabricated her claim.

The lower court recognized that its holding that there is no constitutional error in prohibiting cross-examination of a witness regarding an alleged false prior accusation against someone other than the defendant was supported by rulings from a

- 42 -

number of federal courts of appeal, citing to Boggs v. Collins, 226 F.3d 728, 739 (6th Cir. 2000) (concluding that a defendant who was convicted of rape was not constitutionally entitled to cross-examine the victim regarding an alleged prior false accusation of rape against another person, as his sole basis for such cross-examination was to show that if she lied once, she would do it again); Hogan v. Hanks, 97 F.3d 189, 192 (7th Cir. 1996) (upholding a state court's decision to disallow questioning of a rape victim regarding two alleged prior false accusations where state law required evidence that the prior reports were "demonstrably false" before permitting such questioning); see also State v. Raines, 118 S.W.3d 205, 213 (Mo. Ct. App. 2003) (noting that the majority of the federal appellate courts that have addressed the issue have found no violation of the Confrontation Clause where a trial court has prevented crossexamination for the sole purpose of showing that a witness has a "tendency to lie, based on a pattern of past lies"). Pantoja, 990

So.2d at 631. The Pantoja Court stated,

Applying <u>Davis</u>, the Seventh Circuit held that impeachment with evidence of a prior false report constitutes a general credibility attack for which there is no constitutional entitlement. <u>Boggs</u>, 226 F.3d at 739. The following language from Boggs is instructive:

No matter how central an accuser's credibility is to a case-indeed, her credibility will almost always be the cornerstone of a rape or sexual assault case . . . -the Constitution does not require that a defendant be given the opportunity to wage a general attack on credibility by pointing to individual instances of past conduct. . . . Under Davis and its progeny, the Sixth Amendment only compels cross-examination if that examination aims to reveal the motive, bias or prejudice of a witness/accuser.

Id. at 740. The Sixth Circuit, in <u>Hogan</u>, noted that the Supreme Court had never held "or even suggested" that a prohibition against using specific acts of misconduct to impeach a witness posed constitutional problems. 97 F.3d at 191.

Pantoja v. State, 990 So. 2d at 632. Nor was Petitioner denied right to present a defense. As previously stated, a his defendant's right to present relevant evidence is not unlimited, but rather is subject to reasonable restrictions. Taylor v. Illinois, supra,; Rock v. Arkansas, supra; Chambers v. Mississippi, supra. A defendant's interest in presenting such evidence may thus "'bow to accommodate other legitimate interests in the criminal trial process.'" Rock, supra, at 55 (quoting Chambers, supra, at 295); accord Michigan v. Lucas, supra. Florida has broad latitude under the Constitution to establish rules excluding evidence from criminal trials and such rules do not abridge an accused's right to present a defense because they are neither "arbitrary" or "disproportionate" to the purposes they are designed to serve.

Application of the Section 90.403, Florida Statutes, balancing test also establishes the correctness of the lower court's ruling. Assuming arguendo that the evidence was relevant and otherwise admissible, clearly the probative value of the evidence was overwhelmed by its prejudicial value given the fact that the jury would have concluded that the because the child lied about sexual abuse by a third party, she doing the same thing now.

Finally, application of the <u>Chapman</u>/<u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986) harmless error test also supports this Court's affirmance. Here, Petitioner was able to conduct lengthy cross-examination of the child, as well as other witnesses, to support his theory of defense that the child fabricated the charge against him. Given this the State submits that the conviction was not "substantially swayed by the error." <u>Kotteakos</u> <u>v. United States</u>, 328 U.S. 750, 759, 90 L. Ed. 1557, 66 S. Ct. 1239 (1946). Section 59.041, Florida Statutes (2009), provides in pertinent part that:

"[n]o judgment shall be set aside or reversed, or new trial granted by any court of the state in any cause, civil or criminal, on the ground of... the improper admission or rejection of evidence unless in the opinion of the court to which application is made, after an examination of the entire case it shall appear that the error complained of has **resulted in a miscarriage of justice**. This section shall be liberally construed.

No such miscarriage of justice resulted in this case.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reason, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court decline to exercise jurisdiction or to affirm the decision of the First District Court of Appeal below.